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UNIFORM INTERAGENCY POLICY FOR ASSESSING CIVIL 

MONEY PENALTIES FOR VIOLATIONS OF CERTAIN LAWS

To All State Member Banks and Bank Holding Companies, 
and Others Concerned, in the Second Federal Reserve District:

The Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System has issued the following statement:

The Federal Reserve Board has approved a supervisory policy for the assessment of civil money penalties 
for violation of certain laws. The policy was recommended to Federal financial regulatory agencies by the 
Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council.

The Financial Institutions Regulatory and Interest Rate Control Act of 1978 provides that the Board may 
assess penalties for violations of certain provisions of statutes including the Change in Bank Control Act, the 
National Banking Act, the Bank Holding Company Act and the Federal Reserve Act.

The statement of supervisory policy with respect to civil money penalties is attached. The principal points
are:

a. Establishment of procedures by the bank regulatory agencies for the exchange of detailed reports on 
enforcement actions taken, and

b. Specification of the factors that should be taken into consideration in deciding whether, and in what 
amounts, civil money penalties should be imposed.

The supervisory policy developed by the Council and adopted by the Board is additional to the Board’s 
existing policies for implementation of the civil money penalties provisions of the Financial Institutions Regu
latory and Interest Rate Control Act.

Printed on the following pages is the text of the interagency policy statement. Additional 
copies of this circular will be furnished upon request. Questions regarding the policy statement 
may be directed to our Bank Examinations Department (Tel. No. 212-791-5240).

A nthony M. Solomon,
President.
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INTERAGENCY POLICY REGARDING THE ASSESSMENT OF CIVIL 
MONEY PENALTIES BY THE FEDERAL FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 

REGULATORY AGENCIES

Under provisions of the Financial Institutions Regulatory 
and Interest Rate Control Act of 1978 ("FIRA"), 92 Stat. 3641, the 
Federal financial institutions regulatory agencies are authorized to 
assess civil money penalties for violations of various Federal statutes 
and regulations promulgated thereunder. The agencies are each authorized 
to assess a civil money penalty for a violation of the terms of a final 
cease and desist order. The Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve 
System, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, and the Federal 
Deposit Insurance Corporation are each authorized to assess civil money 
penalties for violations of:

(1) sections 22(h) and 23A of the Federal Reserve 
Act (respectively, limitations on loans by in
sured banks to their executive officers, direc
tors and principal shareholders and limitations 
on loans by insured banks to their affiliates);

(2) the prohibitions of Title VIII of FIRA (12 U.S.C.
§ 1972(2)) against preferential lending to bank 
executive officers, directors, and principal 
shareholders based upon a correspondent account 
relationship; and

(3) a willful violation of the Change in Bank Control 
Act of 1978 (12 U.S.C. § 1817(j)).

In addition, the Board is authorized to assess civil money penalties 
for violations of sections 19 and 22 of the Federal Reserve Act (reserve 
requirements, interest rate limitations and limitations on loans to 
executive officers of member banks) and for violations of the Bank Hold
ing Company Act of 1956, as amended (12 U.S.C. §§ 1841-1849). The 
Comptroller may assess penalties for violations of section 22(g) of the 
Federal Reserve Act and any provision of the National Banking Act. The 
Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation is authorized to assess 
a civil money penalty for a violation of the Savings and Loan Holding 
Company Act (12 U.S.C. § 1730a) and the Change in Savings and Loan Con
trol Act of 1978 (12 U.S.C. § 1730(q)).

The maximum civil penalty that may be assessed is generally 
$1,000 per day for each day the violation continues. The maximum civil 
penalties are $100 per day for a violation of section 19 of the Federal 
Reserve Act and $10,000 per day for a violation of the Change in Bank 
Control Act and the Change in Savings and Loan Control Act. In deter
mining the amount of the penalty, the FIRA provisions require the 
appropriate agency to consider the financial resources and good faith 
of the company or person charged, the gravity of the violation, any 
history of previous violations, and such other matters as justice may 
require.
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The agencies have adopted amendments to their Rules of Practice 
and Procedure to implement their civil money penalty authority.I/ The 
procedures are essentially uniform among the agencies. The agency pro
cedures provide for the commencement of civil money penalty proceedings 
with the issuance of a notice of assessment. The notice generally contains

(1) a statement of the legal authority for the assessment;

(2) the amount of the proposed penalty;

(3) the factual or legal grounds for the assessment;

(4) advice to the person being assessed of a right to a 
formal administrative hearing on the assessment; and

(5) advice regarding the 10 day time limit to request such 
a hearing.

Under the FIRA civil penalty provisions, the person against 
whom a penalty is assessed has the opportunity to challenge the assess
ment in a formal administrative hearing— and, following the hearing, 
to obtain judicial review of any assessment in an appropriate United 
States court of appeals. Under the Change in Bank Control Act and the 
Change in Savings and Loan Control Act, the person is entitled to a 
trial on the assessment in an appropriate United States district court.

To provide guidance in the procedures and criteria used by the 
agencies in the assessment of civil money penalties under the FIRA pro
visions and to promote coordination among the agencies in the assessment 
of penalties, the Council has recommended this supervisory policy.

1. Interagency Notification of Civil Money Penalty Assessments.

Any Federal bank regulatory agency that initiates a civil money 
penalty assessment will notify the other two Federal bank regulatory 
agencies. The other Federal bank regulatory agencies shall also be fur
nished copies or summaries of any notices of assessment and final assess
ment orders.

1/ These rules are codified at 12 C.F.R. Parts 19, 263, 308, and 747 
(1980).

2/ The Federal Reserve Board’s Rules of Practice provide a person against 
whom a penalty is being considered with an opportunity, prior to the formal 
issuance of a notice of assessment, to submit written comments and for an 
informal conference with the Board's staff to show that a proposed penalty 
is inappropriate or should be reduced in amount. The other agencies have 
adopted a similar informal procedure as a matter of internal agency policy.
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Any Federal financial institutions regulatory agency that 
assesses a civil money penalty for a violation of the terms of a final 
cease and desist order or for a violation of the Change in Bank Control 
Act or the Change in Savings and Loan Control Act will provide the other 
agencies that have assessment authority for violations of similar stat
utes with summaries of the assessment action without identifying details 
or other confidential information. The Federal bank regulatory agencies 
will exchange detailed and complete information among themselves regard
ing all assessment actions.

The agencies believe that this policy of interagency notifica
tion of civil money penalty actions will promote consistency among the 
agencies in assessment situations, particularly in the case of statutes 
where the agencies have similar assessment authority. The agencies also 
believe that interagency notification is desirable in view of the size 
of the penalties that may be assessed and the possibility of impact on 
affiliated institutions. The procedure is not intended to preclude or 
delay any agency from initiating a civil penalty action.

2. Considerations in the Assessment of Civil Money Penalties.

In assessing a civil money penalty under the various FIRA pro
visions, the agencies are required to consider the size of the financial 
resources and good faith of the respondent, the gravity of the violation, 
the history of previous violations, and such other matters as justice may 
require. In determining the amount of a civil money penalty, the agencies 
believe that a significant consideration should be the financial or eco
nomic benefit the respondent obtained from the violation. Accordingly, 
the agencies will consider, in addition to the other factors specified 
in the statute, the financial or economic benefit the respondent derived 
from the illegal activity. The removal of economic benefit will, however, 
usually be insufficient by itself to promote compliance with the statutory 
provisions. The penalty may, therefore, in appropriate circumstances 
reflect some additional amount beyond the economic benefit derived to pro
vide a deterrent to future conduct.

In determining the appropriateness of initiating a civil money 
penalty assessment proceeding, the agencies have identified the following 
factors as relevant:

(1) evidence that the violation or pattern of violations 
was intentional or committed with a disregard of the 
law or the consequences to the institution;

(2) the frequency or recurrence of violations and the length 
of time the violation has been outstanding;

(3) continuation of a violation after the respondent becomes 
aware of it, or its immediate cessation and correction;

(4) failure to cooperate with the agency in effecting early 
resolution of the problem;
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(5) evidence of concealment of the violation, or its 
voluntary disclosure;

(6) any threat of or actual loss or other harm to the 
institution, including harm to public confidence in 
the institution, and the degree of any such harm;

(7) evidence that participants or their associates received 
financial or other gain or benefit or preferential treat
ment as a result of or from the violation;

(8) evidence of any restitution by the participants in the 
violation;

(9) history of prior violations, particularly where similar
ities exist between those and the violation under con
sideration;

(10) previous criticism of the institution for similar violations;

(ID presence or absence of a compliance program and its effec
tiveness ;

(12) tendency to create unsafe or unsound banking practices or 
breach of fiduciary duty; and

(13) the existence of agreements, commitments or orders 
intended to prevent the subject violation.

The delineation of these factors is intended to provide guidance 
regarding the circumstances under which the agencies may initiate a civil 
money penalty action and is not intended to preclude any Federal financial 
institutions regulatory agency from considering any other matters relevant 
to the appropriateness of a civil money penalty assessment.
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